
United Nations 

GENERAL 
ASSEMBLY 
THIRTY-THIRD SESSION 

Ofieial Record. • 

• 
. r 
' ' 

SPECIAL POLITICAL COMMITTEE 
33rd meeting 

held on 
Friday, 24 November 1978 

at 3 p.m. 
New York 

Sl.MMARY RECORD OF THE 33rd MEETING 

Chairman: Mr. PIZA-ESCALANTE (Costa Rica) 

CONTENTS 

AGENDA ITEM 55: REPORT OF THE SPECIAL COM'HTTEE TO INVESTIGATE ISRAELI PRACTICES 
AFFECTING THE HUMAN RIGHTS OF THE POPULATION OF THE OCCUPIED TERRITORIES (continued) 

• This record is subject to correction. Corrections should be incorporated in a copy of 
the record md should be sent within one wuk of the dlltt of publication to the Chief, 
OffiCial Records Editing Section, room A-3550. 

Corrections will be iuued shortly after the end of the session, in a separate fucicle for 
each Committee. 

78-58708 

Distr. GENERAL 
A/SPC/33/SR.33 
29 November 1978 

ORIGINAL: ENGLISH 
I ... 



A/SPC/33/SR.33 
English 
Page 2 

The meeting 1-1as called to order at 3. 30 p.m. 

AGENDA ITEM 55: REPORT OF THE SPECIAL COM!'/IITTEE TO INVESTIGATE ISRAELI PRACTICES 
AFFECTING THE Hill1AN RIGHTS OF THE POPULATION OF THE OCCUPIED TERRITORIES 
(continued) (A/33/356, A/33/369; A/SPC/33/L.l5-17) 

1. The CHAIRr1AN announced that Bangladesh, Ind~ a, Indonesia and Halaysia had 
joined the sponsors of draft resolutions A/SPC/33/L.l5) L.l6 and L.l7. 

2. Hr. AL--ALI (Iraq), speaking in exercise of the right of reply, said that 
the references made by the Zionist representative to practices by Governments 
within their sovereign territory had no bearing on the subject under discussion, 
namely, Israeli practices in the occupied Arab territories, which had earned tte 
condemnation of all speakers in the Special Political Committee. 

3. The July Revolution had put an end to all the economic and political aspects 
of colonialism and neo-colonialism in Iraq. It had been the first revolution to 
achieve the nationalization of oil resources for the benefit of the people, and 
it had resulted in a Government, the National Front, of all parties, including the 
Communist Party. 

4. The Revolution had also made it possible to settle the problem of the Kurds 
and of all other minorities in Iraq. He could assure the Zionist representative 
that Kurdish citizens led a decent life, and that the Kurds enjoyed full rights 
as a nation. The Kurds had their own administrative bodies and a university, and 
Kurdish leaders were to be found in a number of different parts of Iraq, not 
merely in the Kurdish region. Kurdish ministers took part in the Government of 
the country. A development fJnd of hundreds of millions of dollars had been 
established solely for the Kurdish region. Iraq had been visited by hundreds of 
newsmen and foreign correspondents, who had confirmed the Government's statements 
with regard to the Kurdish problem. Any journalist would be welcome to visit 
the country and see for himself. 

5. He rer,1inded the Zionist representative that a few years earlier the Iraqi 
Government had invited Je1vs -vrho had left Iraq, as a result of Zionist manoeuvres, 
to return to Iraq with full rights. He challenged Israel to extend a comparable 
invitation to the Palestinian people. 

6. The Israelis constantly spoke of peace; it was clear that, to the Zionists, 
npeace 1

; meant capitulation by all other parties. 

7. ;.rr. RAHMAN (Observer, Palestine Liberation Organization) replying to the 
comments made by the Zionist representative at the 32nd meeting of the Committee, 
said that that representative had spoken of sovereignty over Palestinian 
territories as if they were a no-man's-land. But sovereignty in fact belonged to 
the Palestinian people who had lived in the occupied territories for centuries. 
Menachem Begin, a Polish citizen, had emigrated to Palestine in 1944, yet 1-ras 
claiming sovereignty over a land from which he had expelled the rightful 
inhabitants on behalf of a people 70 per cent or more of whom were settlers and 
colonialists. 

I . .. 



A/SI'C I 33/SF:. 33 
Ji:n~:;lish 

Par;e 3 

(It:·. Pallman , Observer , PLO) 

8. The Israeli representative hacl spol\:en of human rights violations in r••any 
States 1-Ti thout, houe:ver, mentioning South Africa - the onlv country Hi th vhich 
Israel could truly be COi'lpared. He had cited documents sent to the SecretarY-· 
General as evidence that the people living in the occupied territories enjoyed a 
certain degree of freedom of expression; it 1-JOuld be interesting to know 11hether 
the e:.>:pulsion of some 1,600 peo1_Jle, includinG community leaders~ from the 'Jest 
Bank had been connected Hi th the fact that sor,1e of thern. had. s i ;:snecl a docurn.en t 
in 1971~. 1'-1any publications" papers~ and books, and even the curricula in Hest 
Bnnk schools, were subject to censorship by the Israeli authorities. 

9. The Israelis based their claims upon tvo documents: the Balfour Declaration 
and the Bible. The Bible, vlhich vms a holy book for Islam as 1vell as for other 
reli~ions ,. should not be used as a justification for criminal acts. And ratl1er 
than a declaration ;~i ving an assurance on behalf of a colonial Povrer to just 
one L1an, the many General Assen:tbly resolutions recognizin:::; the ric;hts of the 
Palestinian people should serve as the basis for sol vin~ the Palestinian problea. 

10. 'I'he Zionists had appealed to all Arab States to negotiate,. claiming that 
everythinc; \Vas negotiable. In fact, the Israelis llere not prepared to make any 
concessions, and the Arab States at the surmnit Heeting held at Baghdad had all 
rejected the appeal, for they vTere not prepe.red to nec;otiate on the basis of a 
document providinc; only for the national suicide of the Palestinian people. All 
calls for peace on the basis of the Be~ four Declaration \vere hypocritical: the 
underlying intention vas to declare 1-rar on the Palestinian people. 

ll. Mr. BOYADJIEV (Bule;aria), exercisin.g his riGht of reply, refuted the 
alle~ations made by the Israeli representative ae;ainst his country, and dreH 
attention to a ne1vspaper article in 'I'he Hashinr:;ton Post of 24 November 1978 
reporting attempts by the Israeli authorities to exclude Arabs from a hi~h court 
hearing on territorial claims to the \Jest Bank. 

12. 'I'he Bulgarian people had al~Vays sided ui th the oppressed, even in the J.ar1<:est 
days of the struc;glE:.: against Fascism durin::; the Second Horld \llar, lvhen they had 
not allm·red one Bulc;arian nan, uoman or child of Jei·lish origin to be deported or 
sent to a Nazi concentration camp. They continued to defend basic human ri,q;hts 
and freedom for all and ue1•1anded that such ri[;l'lts be restored to all oppressed 
peoples. Bulgaria would be celebratin,s the first International Day of Solidarity 
with the Palestinian People on 29 November 1978, and in that connexion the 
President of the State Council of the Peo~le's Republic of Bulc;aria had exnressed 
the solidarity of his country 1rith the pe01)les fightine; ae:ainst foreien occupation 
for self~deternination and national independence. 

13. Mr. HUSSAilJ (Pakistan), exercising his right of reply, said that tlle 
alle::r,ations made by the Israeli representative ~¥ere an atter.1.pt to divert 
attention from the Israeli Government 1 s mm excesses in the occupied territories. 
Such allegations Fere not relevant to the subject currently under discussion ln 
the Special Political Coumi ttee. It 1vas, hovrever) clear that the Israeli 
representative was Elisinformed about the current situation in Pakistan. 

14. iJir. SURYOKUSUMO (Indonesia) introCl.uced the draft res0lution contained in 
docm1ent A/SPC/33/1.15. He said that tlle draft resolution reaffirmec1 the valic1ity 
of the provisions of the 1949 Geneva Convention relative to the Protection of 

I 
I#"' • 



A/SPC/33/SR.33 
English 
Page 4 
(~i.lr. Suryokusumo, Indonesia) 

Civilian Persons in Time of Har with regard to the Arab territories occupied by 
Israel since 1967. States parties to the Convention had to respect its 
prov1s1ons: they could not unilaterally abrogate them. His delegation hoped 
that the draft resolution could be adopted by consensus. 

15. Mr. YEO (Malaysia), introducing draft resolution A/SPC/33/1.16, said that 
its sponsors felt 8rave concern over the serious situation in the occupied 
territories, which had arisen as a result of continued Israeli occupation and 
from the actions taken by the Government of Israel to change the legal status, 
geographical nature and demographic composition of those territories. Such 
measures by Israel not only had no legal validity, but also constituted a serious 
obstruction of efforts aimed at achieving a just and lasting peace in the Iv:Iiddle 
East. The persistence of Israel in carrying out such measures, in particular 
the establishment of settlements in the Palestinian and other occupied Arab 
territories, was to be deplored. In operative paragraphs 3 and 4 of the draft 
resolution Israel vras called upon to comply strictly with its international 
obligations, and to desist from taking any action which would result in changing 
the characteristics of the Arab territories occupied since 1967, including 
Jerusalem. In operative paragraph 5, all States parties to the Geneva Convention 
relative to the Protection of Civilian Persons in Time of Har were urged to exert 
all efforts in order to ensure respect for, and compliance l·ri th, its provisions 
in all the Arab occupied territories, including Jerusalem. 

16. Mr. HUSSAin (Pakistan), introducing draft resolution A/SPC/33/1.17, pointed 
out that operative paragraph 5 (b) of the resolution should read 11The establishment 
of nevr Israeli settlements, and the expansion of the existing settlements on 
private and public Arab lands, and the transfer of an alien population thereto. 11 

The sponsors of the draft resolution -vrere concerned over the fact that the report 
of the Special Committee contained no evidence of any improvement in the conditions 
of the inhabitants of the occupied areas. The Government of Israel had refused 
to allow members of the Committee to visit the occupied areas and observe at 
first hand the violations of human rights which >Tere taking place. The only 
solution to the problem of the occupation by Israel of Palestinian lands was 
Israel's immediate withdrawal. Draft resolution A/SPC/33/1.17 was similar to 
the resolution which the Committee had adopted by an overwhelmin~ majority the 
previous year. In operative parac:raphs 5 to 7 the Assembly vrould condemn the 
policy of annexation of parts of the occupied territories~ the establishment of 
settlements, the evacuation of Arab inhabitants, the confiscation and expropriation 
of property, and the illegal exploitation of the resources of the territories. 
In operative paragraph 9, the Special Con®ittee was requested, pending the early 
termination of the Israeli occupation, to continue to investigate Israeli policies 
and practices in the Arab territories. It was important for the Special Committee, 
through its 1·rell-documented reports, to continue to focus the attention of the 
international community on the conditions of those affected. 

17. The CHAIRll'lAN said that the amendment read out by the representative of 
Pakistan would be incorporated in the text of draft resolution A/SPC/33/1.17, 
and the revised draft resolution -vroulcl be issued by the Secretariat. 

I . .. 



A/SPC/33/SR.33 
English 
Page 5 

lG. Mr. ALOBAIDLY (Qatar) said that the Special Committee had produced an 
objective report, despite the refusal of the Zionist occupying forces to allo1r 
that Co~mittee to discharge its mandate. The persistent refusal of Israel to 
~ermit members of the Special Committee to investigate the situation in the 
occupied Arab territories proved that Israel failed to recognize its responsibility 
to the international community. It considered the territories to be part of 
its own empire. The Zionist entity had been intensifying its efforts to 
consolidate its occupation by stepping up its policy of settlements, to a degree 
unprecedented since the 1967 war. A particularly large number of settlements 
had been established in the West Bank, the Gaza Strip, the Golan Heights and 
northern Sinai. The Zionist entity now intended to proceed to the full 
occupation stage, which involved demographic change. The settlement plan drawn 
up in 1977 by the Jewish Agency had been approved by the Israeli Government, 
which had received a budget of ~p200 million for that purpose from the Je-vrish 
Agency" to which it had added 300 million Israeli pounds. Fifty settlements were 
planned in the northern zone, extending to the border with Lebanon, and fifty in 
the south, thus creating a belt of land comprising tovms and settlements. 
Fifty-three new settlements were also planned for the eastern area. The 
Zionist occuniers used terror and the vilest forms of oppression against the 
Arabs in the occupied territories, with the objective of forcing an exodus of the 
Arab population. Another method was to deprive the inhabitants of their land, 
particularly in the \Jest Bank and in the Gaza Strip. The price of raw materials 
and of basic foods had been increased by 52 per cent, so that most of the 
population were deprived of the essentials of life. Direct and indirect taxes 
had increased in the past two years by 60 per cent, and taxes on property and 
taxes for education and defence had risen by 80 per cent. There was a grave 
economic situation in the occupied territories, with high unemployment and the 
threat of a slump in the Hest Bank and in the Gaza Strip. The purpose of the 
Lilmd Government was to drive the young people a-vmy from their homes in search 
of a livelihood. Despite their valiant resistance, the Arab masses in those 
territories had to endure a continued deterioration in their living conditions, 
and watch land being expropriated and then completely annexed. 

19. The action of the Zionist e.uthori ties in the occupied areas since 1948 
summed up the history of Zionist policy - annexation, spoliation, and the 
expulsion of the inhabitants. Zionist colonization \vas no different from any 
other form of colonization, apart from its policy of expellinr; the rightful 
mmers from their territories. The Zionist occupation guthori ties -vrere nov 
judaising the Galilean area, encircling the territory, and promoting a wave of 
migration from Galilee. The Minister for Ac;riculture, Hr. Sharon, had stated in 
November 1977 that the purpose of the new settlements to be established in the 
period 1978-1979 >vas to occupy all parts of the country, includinc; Judaea, 
Galilee and Semaria. Appearing on Israeli television on l January 1978, the 
Foreign Hinister, Nr. Dayan, had said that the question of settlements was at 
the heart of Zionist policy. The Zionist authorities had annexed Arab Jerusalem, 
in defiance of the United Nations Charter, of United Nations resolutions and 
of all international conventions. The occupation of Jerusalem had led to the 
desecration of Islamic, Christian and Je-vrish holy places. Tens of thousands of 
citizens had been expelled. Continued Zionist activities required the United 
Nations to tal\:e every possible step under the Charter to guarantee the immediate 

I ... 



A/S?C/3'J/SR.33 
English 
p ' .. age \) 

uithclnn-ral of the Israeli occupyil:"F forces. The Zionist authorities had chan[Sed. 
the char:~.cter of the occupie(1 territories, and Fere trying to rl.estroy the 
DalE" sti nia.n lleri tar·e in the rep;ion. ~:'h.,.,re had been a proli ferRtion of stril~es, 
and of arYests and imprisonments of Palestinians. Stril:es had teen staged in 
the prisons to improve the livine: conclitions of prisoners, and to put an encl. to 
torture. Because of the international -vrave of protest, the Zionist entity had 
increased the use of torture at<ainst Arabs. 

20. The violation of the lluman rin;hts of the population of the occu:oiec1 
territories 1-ras part of Israel's settlement policy. That policy Fas to sap the 
morale of civilians under military rule. Yet the Palestinian people 1·rould not 
be exterminated, and uould defend their legitimate right to live in peace and 
dignity. Israel had been cree.ted to assurne the role of an aggressor in the 
region and to combat progressive countries. Its only function -vras to assume a 
military role. But the resolve of the displaceel Arabs under the yoh:~ of zionism 
could not be brol;:en, 

21. iir. Crf\GA ( 1Ubani8.) said that the continuation and intensification of the 
crinlinai an~,-Tnhumane practices cor1mi tted by the Israeli Zionists in the occupied 
Arab territories> as shovn by the evidence in the Special Committee's report, 
revolted. all those throue;hout the -vro-rld to whom the cause of independence was 
<lear and 1-rho hated national oppression. The Albanian people and Government had 
al1-.rays resolutely condemned tl1ose practices and had followed with ?;reat concern 
the drama that the Arab inhabitants of the occupied territories,. especially 
the Palestinian people, had been experiencinG for many years. The recent 
establishment of new Jew-ish settlements in those territories, as well as the 
implementation of anti--Arab laHs, 1-rere manifest and hostile acts designed to 
compel the indi~enous inhabitant3 to abandon their homeland. The events that had 
occurred since the last session of the Jl.ssembly, and the proclamation of their 
settlement policy by the Zionist leaders, 1vere clearly designed to change the 
demoe;raphic structure of the territories and perpetuate the Zionist occupation, 
as Hell as to m8J::e the territories strongholds for attack and provocation against 
neic;hbourine~ countries. The establishment of ne1-r Jewish colonies >ms ahrays 
accompanied by a campaign of terror and violence against the indigenous population. 

22. It had lonG been clear that the Zionists could not have dared to carry their 
arsc:ressive activities so far vTithout the open assistance of United 3tates 
inlperialism. At the same time o the Soviet social imperialists, e.lthough posing 
as frie!lds and defenders of the Palestinian and other Arab peoples, were in 
fact, in pursuance of their expansionist policy in the Hiddle :Cast, encouraginr; 
the Israeli a[je;ressors to continue the im:9lementation of their anti-l\re.b pll\ns 
and policy by :t~roviding the State of Israel Hi th huP,an resources which -vrere used 
both for colonizing the new settlements and as cannon-fodder. The t-vro 
i:nperialist super-Pouers ~ while uorkinr, a:':ainst the unity of the .Arab nations, 
had al1-rays :proclaimed their so~callecl role as peace-makers: thus camouflagin~ 
their true hegemonistic aims in the region. The State of Israel had been 
artificially cree.ted by zionism and international imperialism at the expense of 
the .~ab> and especially the Palestinian, people. The attempts to gather the 
diaspora of centuries and liquidate a nation thousands of years old, thus creating 

I ... 



A/SPC/33/8TI.33 
Enrr;lish 
Par;e 7 

(~1r. Cerga, Albani..?.:_) 

a new diaspora, was condemned by the progressive nations and peoples of the 
>mrld and, sooner or later, the latent hatred would result in a national Har. 
How·ever, there could be no hope that the Israeli Zionists -vrould 13i ve up their 
annexationist and denationalizing prRctices in those territories of their mm 
free wilL The problem could not be solved without solvin~ the whole Hiddle East 
problem, and especially that of the Palestinians, once and for all. The current 
trend of events showed quite clearly to the Arab peoples and the Palestinians 
that the only way of realizine; their national aspirations was to undertRke a 
strue;gle to the end against their various enemies. 

23. The Albanian people and Government reaffirmed their solidarity with the 
just struggle of the Palestinian Rnd other _Arab peoples against the interference 
and plots of United States imperialism and Soviet social imperialism in the 
Middle East. They were convinced that by waging a determined struggle those 
peoples would liberate the occupied territories and emerge victorious over the 
imperialist Zionist aggression and the plots that vrere beinr; hatched by the 
imperialist super-Pmv-ers. 

24. Mr. RAI (India) pointed out that if Israel -vrished to disprove the findings 
of the Special Committee, it should permit the latter to enter the occupied areas 
in order to study the situation at first hand. Since it had refused to do so, 
it must have something to hide, and it was probable that the grim reality of 
military occupation portrayed in the report uould be multiplied by a visit of 
the Committee to the occupied territories. Israel's un-vrillingness to accept 
the fact that the provisions of the fourth Geneva Convention concerning the 
protection of the civilian population under military occupation applied to the 
territories occupied in 1967, and its refusal to abide by the terms of that 
Convention, were inexcusable. 

25. Another matter of serious concern 1-ra.s the evacuation of Arab inhabitants in 
the occupied areas from their ancestral homes and the destruction of their 
houses to make way for Israeli settlerr1ents. There 1-ms no justification for the 
expandine; and permanent character of Israeli settlements, except the outdated 
right of conquest, >rhich was not recognized by the United nations. The 
establishment of those settlements \vas certainly not calculated to facilitate 
the process of securinc; a just and lasting peace 0 for the first prerequisite 
for peace was the ending of occupation. 

26. It was deplorable that, in spite of the concern regarding prison conditions 
reportedly expressed by some Israeli officials, nothing had been done to 
alleviate those conditions. His delegation also condemned the practice whereby 
military courts sentenced parents to prison terms or fines for offences committed 
by their children. 1-rhich -vras contrary to the principle of individual responsibility 
in law and a violation of the fourth Geneva Convention. The allegations of 
shocldng treatTYJ.ent of Arab inhabitants durine; interrogation, detention and 
imprisonment ~~ere too serious to be ignored. It -vras difficult to imagine hmr a 
people ~Vho had suffered grievous persecution throughout the course of history could 
indulge in such gross violations of the human rie;hts of others. If the charges 
were not true or ~¥ere exaggerated, the only effective -vray of disproving them was 
to let the Special Committee study the situation at first hand. 

27. Israel's actions aimed at changing the physical and geop,raphical nature, 

/ ... 



A/SPC/33iSH.33 
:::nclish 
Pa0t? 3 

c:i.eP.lOf:;ra:pllic CO?"'T.OSiti0U s.r:il_ culturel life Of the r,ccupied territories Fere COntrary 
to international l~vr anC. norality and were not in keeping ~·rith efforts to arrive 
c:.t a just ani d.m·a1.:le ·9eace. The question of the hurn<=m rights of the 1\.rab 
j)ecple in the occu:oied territories coulG. not be se:pe,rated from the over-all 
:r>olit.icD.l probleL:s in the Hic1cUe ;:;ast. 

::->3. Eis delegation su.:or·ortecl the Special Committee v s recomElendation that a 
s'..li -ccJlle mechanism shouhi. he established to safeguard the h11T'lan ri2:hts of the 
civilian po~ulation in the occupied territories until that occupation was 
terr:-:.inated. :::Jut that was .:1ot the final ans>ver" Israeli occupation had 
r:.·rog:reEsiveJ.y acquired the character of annexation. l'Iilitary occupation did 
not confer or~ Israel any f!.uthority to alter the status of the occupied areas, Its 
Y es:l!onsil,ili t:r w-as restricted to the observance of the provisions of the 
1949 Geneva Conve;.1tion on the protection of civilians in tir·le of uar. The riu;hts 
of the :Palestinian Arab people rewained inalienable, including their rie;ht to 
self-·determination and to a nation State of their ovn. ~he fundamental principles 
for t~1e estarJ='..isl1:11ent of an endurinc; peace in the Hiddle East 'vere: the 
non·-ac<J.uisit.ion of territory by force and the vacation of J\ralJ Bn"~ Palestinien 
terri tor,y- occupied. ·;:;y Israel since 19(7 · the inalienable ric:ht of the Palestinian 
peoplt: to self -d.cter:rrtination and to a nation State of t!1eir mm :. and the rie;ht 
oi' ~~ J. the Str'..tes in the i Iiddle East to exist in security anct peace within 
i:1t.ernationall~" reco,c;nized bocmclaries. 

,":.'-;;'. I~r. i\TOO (lialaysia) said that in its consideration of iter•l 55, his delegation 
1vas c;~_dec:. b~r the findin;-;s of the Special Com:r.littee, vThich had carried out a 
COllll'lenclable t3..sk against heavy odds. Israel v s refusal to co-operate and allo-u 
tne Special Co~~ittee access to the occupied territories had compelled the 
int2rnational communi t~r to draw certain unfavourable conclusions about Israel 1 s 
true intentions. 

30. The problem of the human ri~hts of the population of the occupied territories 
was undoul.J·t;edly rooteCJ in Israel 1 s continued refusal to end its illegal 
occupr:tion of ~\rr:b territories. As lonr; as that illec;al occupation continued, 
the1.·e coul.1 r..ever ·i.)e r;enuine restora.tion of human rights to the civilian 
:::: Jt)u:ation of the territories, still less restitution of the funr'tamental ric;ht 
cf -chr: Po.lcstinian people to self·~deternlination. IsrF.Lel, as the military 
:··:·c~;•·~rinc Po~-rer, had inescapable obJ.ir:;ations to respect international law in 
r·~: o.J.'C. 'So the ~rotection of the funo.a.r1ental llUPKm rir:;hts of the Pr:tlestini::m 
i;e..:-:~· :.; in the occuried territories and to refrain from policies designed to annex 
t~·:.:·s·= territories or chan~e their dern.oc~raphic composition. Unfortunatel~r o events 
:·<::. ·. 2~1oor!1. th2.t IsrEtel Has continuing to consolidate existinc; settlements and to 
-,.,.,...:.J..J..· ne-.;r ones. ~Chat could only undermine the peacP process and the search for a 
cc·· :'::t·ehensive solution to the problem. The policy of settlement and annexation of 
: ... 2 cccupied territories Yas a violation of article 47 of the fourth Geneva 
::,;nv.~ntion ·=If 19119, which specifically prohibited the annexation of territories 
,A_:::..er ;rrilit2.ry occu::;>ation by the occupyin[': Power. His dele~ation considerec_ that 
·c;>o-· It-raeli uleasures to chanc-e the ler;e,l status,, r;eographical nature and 
der'~lOfT'?.~•hic cmnposition of the occupied territories had no leQ;al validity. 

:n. 'l'!ce contim1atior. of cn:rrent Israeli policies could only have very serious 

I . .. 



P./SPC/33/3F<.33 
:Dnglisl;. 
Pae;e 9 

Aboo, J,Iala.ysia) 

consequences for the peace and security o~ the region. Until a coKprehensive 
settlement of the problem was found, it was just and correct that Israel should 
undertake seriously to safeguard the human rights of the inhabitants of the 
occupied territories. The demolition and expropriation of the property of thoGe 
inhabitants and the arbitrary arrest of persons resisting Israel's policy of 
occupation could only be condemned by the international community. In that 
connexion, the Special Committee's recommendation concerning the establishment of 
an impartial and effective mechanism to safe~uard the human rights of the 
population of the occupied territories deserved international support. The 
prospects for peace in the Biddle East would be ~reatly improved if I::;rael adopted 
an attitude of good will and co-operation. It remained his Government's position 
that Israel should return all occupied Arab territories, desist from its settlement 
policy and its attempt to change the legal status and the demographic, geographical 
and religious composition of the occupied territories, including the Holy City of 
Jerusalem, and stop the desecration of Islamic monuments in the Holy City. 

32. Mr. 'ISIYREGZEN (Mongolia) expressed appreciation to the Special Cmmnittee for 
its efforts to fulfil its mandate and for its meticulousness and impartiality. 
His delegation shared the concern of other delegations over the present situation 
in the occupied Arab territories resulting from the permanent state of occupation 
and from Israeli measures to change the legal status, geographical nature and 
demographic composition of those territories. Despite Israel's persistent refusal 
to allow the Special Committee access to the occupied territories, that Committee 
had been able to collect ample information testifying to the grave si tu2.tion 
prevailing in the territories. According to the Special Committee's report 
(A/33/356), there had been no positive change in the human rights situation of the 
civilian population of the occupied territories. The Israeli Government vre.s 
continuing to implement a policy of settlement and annexation, thereby denying the 
Palestinian people their fundamental right to self--determination, and was also 
continuing to refuse to allm·r civilians, who had fled the territories during the 
Israeli aggression of June 1967 or immediately thereafter to return. The Israeli 
Government \vas consciously following a policy which uas in violation of the fourth 
Geneva Convention, in particular article 47, which prohibited the annexation of 
territories under military occupation by the occupying Povrer, and article 49, 
which prohibited the transfer of citizens of the occupyinG Pmv-er into t:w occupied 
territories. The Israeli Government's current policies and practices denonstrated 
that Israel 1vas determined to continue its occupation and annexation of the h~ab 
territories. As a recent press report had indicated, the Prime Iv:inister ancl_ 
Government of Israel, together with orthodox Jews. believed that tl1e i·Jest Bal-":~ ';res 
part of Israel's biblical heritage and that Jew·s had a God-given rigLt to s'~'ttle 

there. 

33. 111any delegations had pointed out that the fundamental violation of ~1ur1an rislJts 
lay in the very fact of occupation. That was itself the direct cause of tt.2 (;;\y-tc · 
day pattern affecting the life and liberty of civilians in the occupied territori~s. 
The report gave information on the violations of human rights in the occupied 

I . ... 



A/SPC/ 33/SR. 33 
English 
Page 10 

(Mr. Tsiyregzen, Hongolia) 

territories. 1be Special Committee had recorded 319 specific reports of incidents 
and 1,192 arrests, which showed that the Israeli Government continued to disregard 
the resolutions concerning the status of civilians in the occupied territories 
adopted by the General Assembly, the Security Council and other United Nations 
organs. 

34. His delegation wished to reaffirm its belief that a just solution to the 
Middle East problem could be achieved only through concerted efforts by all parties 
concerned, on the basis of the withdrawal of Israeli troops from all Arab 
territories occupied in 1967, recognition of the legitimate rights of the 
Palestinian people, including their right to the establishment of their own State, 
and maintenance of the security of all States in the region. The best way to 
attain that over-all solution would be to reconvene the Geneva Peace Conference on 
the Middle East with the participation of all the parties concerned, including the 
Palestine Liberation Organization, the sole authentic representative of the 
Palestinian people. 

35. Mr. HRCKA (Czechoslovakia) said that if an over-all solution was to be found 
~o the dangerous problem of the Middle East, all aspects of that problem must be 
studied. The situation in the occupied territories was one such aspect. Israel's 
actions in those territories clearly indicated its unwillingness to relinquish any 
territory seized in 1967 and hence its concern to frustrate any efforts to settle 
the Middle East problem. The ongoing "separate negotiations" also bore witness 
to that attitude. 

36. His delegation took a positive view of both the activities and the report of 
the Special Committee to Investigate Israeli Practices Affecting the Human Rights of 
the Population of the Occupied Territories, which had provided objective evidence 
showing that violence and infringements of human rights were a daily occurrence. 
Israel could not justify its actions by wilful misinterpretation of the status of 
the occupied territories, by demagoguery, or recourse to biblical arguments. He 
wished to reiterate that the 1949 Geneva Convention relative to the Protection of 
Civilian Persons in Time of Vlar must be fully implemented in the occupied Arab 
territories. 

37. His Government considered that Israel's attempts to change the geographical 
and demographic character of the occupied territories continued to constitute an 
obstacle to a just settlement of the Biddle East problem, and for that reason it 
would continue to support the Arab people's legitimate aspirations and their 
opposition to the Israeli policy of attempting systematically to colonize the Arab 
territories through intimidation and repression with a view to permanent 
annexation - a policy that must be universally condewned. 

38. That conclusion was amply substantiated by many Israeli Government 
pronouncements: for example the Minister for Foreign Affairs, Mr. Dayan, had 
said in the General Assembly that the Israeli settlements in J11daea, Samaria and 
the Gaza district were there as of right, and that it was inconceivable that 
Jews should be prohibited from settling in Judaec: and Samaria, which vrere the heart 
of the Jewish homeland. 'I'here was therefore a preconceived plan to prepare world 

/ ... 



I 

A/SPC/33/SR.33 
English 
Page 11 

(Mr. HrKka 2 Czechosloval:ia) 

public opinion to accept the view that it was unfair to expect Israel to give up the 
Arab territories. Some 100 settlements had been set up in the occupied territories 
in the period since 1967. Far from abandoning that practice, Israel had published 
plans for the establishment of dozens of new settlements and expansion of the 
existing ones over the next three years. 

39. Israel claimed that the occupation of Arab territories was a military and 
strategic necessity, whereas it was in fact a classic example of aggression and 
occupation. Israeli so~"called philanthropy was no more than propaganda: in 
reality Arab patriots were being persecuted, and the civilian population repressed 
and the territory colonized. Underlying such actions was a racist policy of 
occupation, expropriation and expulsion. Any so-called elections and other measures 
for self-determination were simply a manifestation of occupation and were intended 
solely to perpetuate the occupation. 

40. Most of the statements made in the Committee confirmed that the majority 
believes that the only way to resolve the existing situation was to end the 
occupation of the Arab territories and to secure for the population the right to 
their own land. His delegation entirely agreed Hi th the conclusion of the report 
that ilthe fundamental violation of human rights lay in the very fact of occupa.tionn 
(A/33/356, para. 129). 

41. His delegation condemned the Israeli aggression against neighbouring Arab 
States and reiterated its view that the question under discussion was an integral 
part of the over-all Middle East problem, the solution of "t-rhich required the 
withdrawal of Israeli troops from all Arab territories occupied in 1967, the 
realization of the inalienable rights of the Arab people of Palestine, including 
their right to self-determination and the establishment of their own State, and 
the safeguarding of the independence and security of all the States parties to the 
conflict. His delegation would endorse all measures approved by the international 
community with a vievr to a solution of that serious problem, in the interests of 
the Arab people of Palestine and of peace in the Middle East. 

42. Mr. ABDEL MEGUID (Egypt) said that since its establishment, the Special 
Committee had exerted every possible effort to fulfil its mandate. However, 
Israel's persistent refusal to allow it to investigate conditions in the Arab 
occupied territories had further complicated its task. The Special Committee's 
latest report (A/33/356) reflected the suffering to which the Arab population in 
the occupied territories had been subjected for more than 11 years, and 't'Tas a fresh 
reminder to the international community of its responsibility to put an end to the 
Israeli occupation of all Arab territories occupied since 1967 and to enable the 
Palestinian people to enjoy all their inalienable rights. 

43. Since 1967, the General Assembly had adopted many resolutions condemnin~ 
Israeli practices in the occupied territories. Similar resolutions had been 
adopted by international organizations concerned with humap rights and by the 
Security Council. Security Council resolution 237 (1967) called upon Israel to 
ensure the safety, welfare and security of the inhabitants of the areas where 
military operations had t~cen place and to facilitate the return of those who had 
fled the areas. Altho~gh that resolution had been adopted unanimously, Israel had 
still not complied with it. 

I . .. 



A/SPC/33/ST{. 33 
Encslish 
Page 12 

(~1!.'_. Abde_l_J·~e~l!_~d, Egypt) 

44. The facts referred to in the Special Committee's report represented a very 
serious dimension in the development of the situation in the Middle East. Er,ypt 
had called for and still called for a speedy end to Israeli occupation Hhich 
-vmuld guarantee the basic rights of the Arab population of the occupied 
territories and make the 11iddle East an area of peace contributing to the 
progress of Nankind as in the past. The Israeli policy of annexation and 
settlement was i~legal and contrary to Israel's international obligations, in 
particular the fourth Geneva Convention. His delet:;ation urcsed t,he Special 
Political Co~nittee to reaffirm the applicability of that Convention to all Arab 
occupied territories and to call upon Israel to comply with it. The Convention 
categorically prohibited collective punishment. Article 49 stated that 
individual or 1nass forcible transfers, as well as deportations of protected 
persons from occupied territory to the territory of the occupyin~ Power or to 
that of any other country, occupied or not, were prohibited, regardless of 
their motive. The occupying Power 1ras prohibited from deporting or transferring 
parts of its own civilian population into the territory it occupied. Article 53 
prohibited the occupyine Power from destroying any individual, collective or 
public property. In document S/12233, the Security Council had expressed its 
grave concern over the serious situation in the occupied territories as a 
result of continued Israeli occupation. It had reaffirmed its call upon Israel 
to ensure the safety, welfare and security of the inhabitants of the territories 
and to facilitate the return of those who had fled the areas since the outbreak 
of hostilities. The Council had reaffirmed that the fourth Geneva Convention 
1vas applicable to the Arab territories occupied by Israel since 1967 and had 
called upon the occupying Pmver to comply strictly -vri th the provisions of that 
Convention and to refrain from any measure that violated them. The Council had 
also strongly deplored measures taken by Israel in the occupied Arab territories 
that altered their demngraphic composition or geographical nature, particularly 
the establishment of settlements. It had reaffirmed that such measures had 
no legal validity and constituted an obstacle to peace. 

45. Israel had made no secret of its policy of annexation and settlement, 
which was a formal declared policy" and vras unaware of the seriousness of such 
a policy, its grave consequences and its total incompatibility with the 
principles of international law, the United Nations Charter and United Nations 
resolutions. The principles of international lavr 1-rere very clear in that 
respect, particularly those laid do1vn in the fourth Geneva Convention and the 
Hague regulations. They required respect for the family rights, lives, relic;ious 
convictions and private property of individuals and prohibited the confiscation 
of public and private property. The provisions embodyine those principles -vrere 
violated every day as a result of the Israeli policy of settlement and the 
confiscation ancl expropriation of land from its Arab ovmers and forceful 
expulsion. The application of the so-called emergency defence regulations and 
other Israeli laws in the occupied Arab territories was also a violation of 
international law· and the fourth Geneva Convention. Those Israeli laus and 
regulations were arbitrary. They permitted the detention of Arab citizens 
vrithout trial, deprived the Palestinian inhabitants of their elementary human 
rights and established an arbitrary regime without juridical control. 

46. The General Assembly, in resolution 32/5, had stronr;ly deplored the Israeli 

I ... 

\ 



' 
A/SPC/33/SR.33 
En~lish 
Pa~e 13 

(Mr. Abdel Megui<l, Esypt) 

policy of settlement in the Arab occupied territories and described it as 
illesal and designed to chan~e the legal status, ~eographical nature and 
demographic composition of those territories. The resolution also called upon 
Israel to comply strictly with its international obligations in accordance with 
the principles of international laH and the provisions of the fourth Geneva 
Convention. The resolution reiterated that Israel's policy constituted a 
serious obstruction of efforts aimed at achievins a just and lasting peace in the 
Middle F:ast. Egypt again w·ished to reiterate that all Israeli plans to establish 
more settlements in the Arab occupied territories or to expand existing 
settlements constituted new obstacles to the achievement of a just and lasting 
peace. 

1~7. His delegation appreciated the Secretary-General's report (A/33/369) on 
United Nations efforts to ensure the widest circulation of the reports of the 
Special Committee. It believed, ho1-rever, that a greater effort could be exerted 
in that direction. At the same time 9 it believed that all United Nations organs 
must emphasize the necessity of enabling the Special Committee to have access 
to the occupied territories so that it could achieve its task. 

48. The road to peace in the Middle East was open, thanks to the sincere and 
persistent efforts that were beins made to achieve a just 11.nd lastinr; peace in 
a sensitive and holy area -vrhich had ili tnessed the birth of three great religions: 
Judaism, Christianity and Islam. That just peace could be achieved only throu~h 
a common effort, not by the creation of obstacles. 

49. Mr. SAYEGH (Kuwait)·:} said that his delegation appreciated the thoroughness, 
objectivity and devotion to duty of the Special Committee and the ~eticulousness 
and impartiality of the staff who had assisted it in its work. 

50. In the course of the debate, several delegations had noted the Israeli 
delegation's practice of exercisin::; its right of reply in order to cast doubts 
on statements made by other delegations, not in terms of the intrinsic merits of 
those statements, but in terms of what the Israeli delegation alleged to be the 
conduct of the Governments of the delegations in question. Some delegations 
had said that those 1-rere diversionary tactics. Hmrever, the real intention of 
the Israeli delegation was not merely to divert attention, but to underscore 
the Israeli vie-vr that Israel •vas not ans-vrerable to the United Nations or to the 
international cor,nnuni ty for its policies and practices in the occupied territories, 
that the fourth Geneva Convention did not apply to those territories, and 
that international investi~ating committees had no place there. Israel's 
counter-offensive a~ainst every dele~ation which commented on its practices was 
an attempt to further its claim that it 1-ras above international la~or in respect of 
the occupied territories. It was an attempt to muzzle criticism and subvert 
the application of an international treB.ty. Under the fourth Geneva Convention, 
every State party not only had an obligation to respect the terms and provisions 
of the Convention, but also had an obligation to ensure respect for those terms 

" The full text of this statement will be issued as document A/SPC/33/PV.33. 

I ... 



A/SPC/?J/i')R. 33 
:;::ns;lish 
Pase 11~ 

and provisions, \:'llile Il'.any States pa.rties Here not able to ensure res:9ect of 
the Con<;ention by Isre,el, they coulr1 ;:::t least object to viols.tions by Israel. 
Israel, r .. o'r•~ver, vas not uillinf; to acrluiesce even in that 9 and the silencing 
of critics therefore became its major objective. 

~J. The Israeli c1elec;ation had 2cr[~ued that the Special Conmittee 's report 
(A/33/356) and the clebs.te in tbe Special Politicf11 Committee 1vere larijel;y· 
irrel'C'vant to the teras of reference of the Special COT11lllittee e.nd unrelated to 
human ric;hts. That (Jele.o:e.tion had claiNed tlmt the Special Committee's annual 
statement that the fund':wrental violation of human ric;hts lay in the very fact 
of occupation (A/33/356, para. 129) and tha.t the information which the Special 
Committee provided every year on the policv o:L settlement and its implementation 
vrere extraneous matters. The international communi tv's definition of human 
ric;hts vas best emmcia.ted in the International Covenant on 'Rconomic, Social and 
Cultural Ric;hts and the International Covenant on Civil ann. Political Ric;hts. 
Article l, :Garagraph 1) of both Covenantc, rea.d ~ ·'All peol)les have the right of 
self .. cl.eten,ination. By virtue of that ric;ht they freely deterr1ine their 
politico.l status and freely pursue their economic, social and cultural 
developMent.~· Foreign occupation of territories for 11 years could not easily be 
reconciled vith that Jlrovision. It Has therefore r1oubtful uhether the Special 
Conunittee 1 s staten'.ent that Jche fundctmental violation of human rights lay in the 
very fl'lct of occupation could be considered to be irrelevant or extraneous. 

52. 1\rticle 1, para,csr8.ph ~!, of b'Jth Covenants read· 'In no case may a people 
be dejlrivec1 of its ovm means of subsistence,:: In the case of an essentially 
agric,Jlturs.l population. those E!eans of subsistence uere lanc1 and 1trater. It 
TJaS clear that a settlement 11ro::;r8.J,JI!le >vhich de}lrived the inhabitants of the 
occupied territories of their land and uater couJcl. not be considered extraneous 
to the question of human ric;hts. A chstine,uished Ainerican >vho had been 
livinp; for three and a half years in the occu9jed territories had recently 
vrritten that the Palestinians continued to be r!_ispossessed of their land, 
jo1)S o.ncl natural resources, IIe hacl stressed tlmt the question of settle1rrents 
slJOulcl not be allowed to become a mere }'art of the political and diplomatic 
vocabulary, L:rut shoulc1 be understooc in terns of its lec;al and human rivhts 
iHplications. rrbere could be no doubt ·trw.t thP Speci8.l Conrrfli ttee) s statement 
tb2.t the fundanental violation of human ri,shts lay in the very fact of 
occupation, and the Special Committee 1 s detailec1 information concerninG; 
settlements, fell ....ri thin the arena of concern for hlli•Ian rit;hts. In that 
cormexion, it \·Tas rtstonishin~· that the United States, 1trhose President had made 
the crusade for hur,mn ric;hts his ha1lrllar1~, founcl. it possible yeo.r after year 
not to enc:ar;e in any way in the oebn.te on tlw Special Committee 1 s report. His 
clelec;ation vas not questioninr'; the sovereic;n rir;ht of the United States 
c'.2legn.tion to remain silent, However, the conclusion ~Vhich coulci be cirmm 
frorn thr-J.t silence Fas that the United States 1vas selective in its concern for 
human ri13hts, Perhap.::; its conc2rn for Palestini9DS or Arabs 1ms less than its 
concern for those of r1ifferent ethnic or cultural bacl,c;rounds. 

I ... 



A/SPC/33/SR.33 
English 
Page 15 

(Mr. Sayegh, Kuwait) 

53. In the past, Israel had consistently denied that it had a policy of 
settlement, and had questioned the Special Committee's statement to that effect. 
At the current session, however, far from denying the existence of that policy, 
Israel had defended its so-called right to pursue the policy. That change of' tune 
should enable the Special Political Committee to reach its own conclusions 
regarding Israel's credibility and reliability. 

54. The Committee had now been told that of course Israel had the right to settle 
the West Bank, in other words Judaea and Samaria, and Gaza, because the 
League of Nations mandate, by incorporating the Balfour Declaration, had authorized 
the creation of Jewish settlements in that part of Palestine. That assertion 
might have been a joke, but the Committee was entitled to assume that it had been 
meant seriously. The representative of Israel should be reminded that the 
provisions of the mandate for Palestine had ceased to apply in 1947 when the 
League's successor, the United Nations, had taken up the problem of Palestine and 
had recommended that it should be divided into two separate territories, one under 
Israeli sovereignty and one under Palestine Arab sovereignty. In any case, he 
asked where Israel had derived the right to settle the Golan Heights and the 
Sinai Peninsula, which had not been covered by the mandate for Palestine. Moreover, 
when Israel had been admitted into the United Nations it had relinquished all 
claims to sovereignty over the West Bank and had taken the position that the 
future of Arab Palestine should be left to its inhabitants in accordance with the 
principle of self-determination. He asked on what basis Israel currently 
considered that it was entitled to settle that area. 

55. The Committee had also been told that settlements should be encouraged as a 
means of fostering mutual confidence between the inhabitants and promoting peace. 
While assuredly coexistence among all kinds of peoples in a pluralistic Palestine 
would be the most human solution, Israel wanted coexistence cetween ruler and 
ruled, and that was being forced on the occupied territories. 

56. The settlements were being run by two Jewish agencies, both of which had 
constitutions stipulating that land acquired by either agency would become the 
inalienable property of that agency and could be neither sold nor leased to 
non-Jews, a policy tantamount to apartheid. Therefore, when a Jewish settlerr.ent 
had been established by whatever means, the land became the property of the Jewish 
people in perpetuity, and the Arabs could no longer buy or lease it. He asked 
whether that was conducive to peace. 

57. The Committee had also been told that the creation of settlements had not 
displaced a single person and had not violated human rights in the area. The 
representative of Jordan had provided detailed information on the precise action 
that had been taken to make the Jewish settlements possible, and in fact the 
record of the establishment of those settlements showed that they had affected 
human rights in three ways: first, while the Arabs had not always lost their land, 
they had lost access to water and therefore could not work the land. They had been 
obliged to work as hired labourers, had ceased to be masters of their own fate and 
had soon joined the ranks of the displaced. Then the settlements had been used 
as a pretext to prevent the return of those already displaced, and by making the 

I . .. 



.'1../c.l'?C/33/S:R · J3 
·::nglisL 
Page 16 

(}:~· ... i?.?-Y_e_e;_l2_L Em•ai t''1 

rit~lt to return subject to the criterion of econoi!lic viability, Israel had paved 
the way for again denyin; those persons t}1e right to return in the future. Lastly, 
t~1e settle:r;;ents had created a new body of people on the occupied territories and 
:1ad completely altered the face of the rer;ion, and that would soon affect even the 
e::-::ercise of self~determination by the original inhabitants who had stayed in the 
territories. 

58. In conclusion, the Israeli representative had spoken about his country's 
generous offer of self-·rule to the peoples of the occupied \<Test Bank and Gaza as 
an alternative to occupation. There were many reasons why that si.1ould be considered 
an infringement of human riGhts. First of all the Zionist self-serving offer 
merely relieved Israel of a dilemma that had been facing it since 1967, namely, how 
to deal Hith the Palestinians who had stayed instead of running a1vay. Israel 
vranted the territories but it did not want the population, and that had resulted 
in a clash between two crucial Zionist imperatives: the territorial imperatives 
w~ich made it necessary to annex the Hest Bank and Gaza; and the demographic 
imperatives -v;hich made it necessary not to admit another half million non-Jews to 
the Jewish State. Israel had devised various means of dealing with that problem, 
fo~ example, by annexing the territories without enfranchising the population. 

59. In December 1977 there had been the Begin plan, 1-rhich had reappeared at 
Camp David, desi[~ned to distinguisll bet"\veen the fate of the people and the fate 
of the land. By giving the people a semblance of self-rule, Israel would be 
relieved of the problem of having to rule them but "'vould retain effecthre control 
over the land. Israel's policy of occupation stemmed from the fact that it did 
not recognize any of its obligations under any international convention because 
it considered that the territories were part of the original Israel. The self-rule 
plan was actually part of the same Israeli doctrine, minus the inconvenience of 
havine; to deal "1-rith Palestinians who resisted annexation. 

60. Hr_. _ _.t_~..QA'LLATI (Lioyan Arab Jamahiriya) requested that the statement by the 
representative of Kuwait should be reproduced in _e_~_enso. 

61. l~----~~H:·¥U~ (Bangladesh) requested that the state~ent by the representative 
of Kmrait should be reproduced verbatim as a Corn..rni ttee document. 

62. ~~ __ Q;i{-\.}HM~j.{ recalled that the General Assembly haCl decided that the 
Special Political Committee could have records of debates or parts of debates 
reproduced verbatim, and said that if he heard no objection he would take it that 
the statement by the representative of Kmrait should be reproduced verbatim as 
a document of the Committee. 

63. It ·vas so decided. 

64. i,[r. R!L'HlAH (Bangladesh) said that Israel 1 s efforts to undermine the credibility 
of the--special--Cor.unittee only exposed its mvn perfidy and guilt. Int€"rnational 
lau considered occupation to be a te'rLporary phenomenon; yet Israel had remained 
in the occupied territories for 11 years and had been systematically adopting 
lT,c.;:J;:;cc:·es of a permRnent ne .. ture incompatible vrith its obligations as an occupying 

I ... 



A/SPC/33/GH.33 
English 
Page 17 

(Mr . __ RaQm.an, Ba!!_g_l_adesh) 

PO'wer. That was tantamount to colonization, with its consequent threat to the 
survival of the people of those territories as free and independent citizens 
of their own country. The issues at stake '\vere no lonGer the simple denial of 
human rights but were political in nature. Ex uost facto rationalization based 
on security interests or claims of legitimacy deri~ed from some ancient biblical 
link to a so--called homeland, or attempts to legalize such conquest through 
payment of compensation or acquisition by apparently normal means, constituted 
a dangerous precedent which would nullify the injunction in the Charter to the 
effect that territory could not be acquired by force. Israel's continued 
justification of its occupation on security ~rounds negated the letter and spirit 
of the Hague Conventions of 1899 and 1907 and the Geneva Convention of 1949, as 
'\vell as numerous United Nations resolutions. 

65. The Special Committee 1 s statement that it had not noted any significant 
changes in the human rights situation of the civilian population of the occupied 
territories showed that the repeatedly condenned policies and practices of Israel 
in those territories continued unabated. The drive to encourage settler immigrants 
through the transfer of an alien population~ the confiscation and expropriation 
of Arab property, mass arrests and intimidation of the J\.rab population 1-rere all 
complementary to the aim of establishing settlements in those territories, the 
main purpose of which was to de1:1oralize the civilian population. Meanwhile, 
Israel continued illegally to exploit the natural resources of the occupied 
territories, including the petroleum resources of the Sinai and that of the water
table of the northern Uest Bank. Israel vras seekine: not only to alter the 
character and composition of the occupied territories but also to eliminate Arab 
identity by acts against educational establishments, national leaders and cultural 
sites. 

66. Bangladesh fully endorsed the view that, while the United Nations had 
ineffectively been passing paper resolutions, Israel had been systematically turning 
those territories into a veritable homeland. It supported the recommendation of 
the Special Committee that, pending early termination of the occupation, a suitable 
mechanism should be established to safeguard the human rights of the civilian 
population. Failure to oblige Israel to vacate all territories occupied since 
1967 would Iilal~e a mockery of the fundamental Charter provision against the 
acquisition of territory by force. 

67. Mr. WAim (Hauritania) said that every page of the report, and the statements 
made byprevious speakers, showed that the Zionist State of Israel, HS had been 
clearly stated by its leaders, was persisting in its occupation of the Arab 
territories. That policy was imple~~nted by measures based on racism and 
violence, in violation of such basic instruments as the Universal Declaration of 
Human Rights, the Charter of the United Nations and the fourth Geneva Convention. 

68. It was to be '\vondered hm·r long the international community would passively watch 
the uprooting and dispersal, if not the outright extermination of a "ivhole people. 
Israeli practices in the occupied territories seriously compromised the chances 
of a peaceful settlement of the Mi<ldle East problem. It was therefore hie;h time 
that the United Nations forcefully ~ointed out to Israel that the primary obligation 

I . .. 



A/SPC/33/SR.33 
English 
Page 18 

(!v1r. vfane' J'Vlaur_i_tania) 

of all Member States was to respect the Charter, which clearly forbade annexation 
and colonization. Until the United Nations ensured the speedy evacuation of 
the occupied Arab territories and the restoration of the fundamental rights of 
self-determination, freedom and national sovereignty to the people of Palestine, 
peace, justice and human rights would remain empty words. 

69. Mr. BENNOUNA (Morocco) paid a tribute to the efforts expended by the Special 
Committee to Investigate Israeli Practices AffectinG the Human Rights of the 
Population of the Occupied Territories, particularly in view of the difficulties 
caused by Israel's persistence in refusing to co-operate with the Committee. Its 
report (A/33/356) contained valuable information on the policy of Israel regarding 
Zionist settlements, the annexation of Arab lands by force and the civil status 
of Arabs living under the yoke of Israeli colonialism. The Special Committee's 
conclusions in chapter VI of its report bore irrefutable testimony to Israel's 
ongoing policy of annexation and settlement of the occupied lands in violation of 
the human rights of the civilian population. Israel's declared policy was to 
retain all the occupied lands, and the Arab lands occupied in the June 1967 war 
had been annexed to the "Jewish homeland11

• That was a denial of the right of the 
Palestinian people to self-determination and of the very existence of that people. 

70. Israel's leaders had declared that fiendish colonial policy quite openly, 
and Dayan had stated in the United Nations General Assembly on 9 October 1978 
that the Israeli settlements in Judaea and Samaria - as they called the Hest Bank -
and in the Gaza Strip, were there as of right and -chat it was inconceivable that 
Jews should be prohibited from settling and living in Judaea and Samaria, which was 
the heart of the Jewish homeland. 

71. Did that mean that the United Nations had made a mistake in 1948 when it 
had partitioned Palestine and had made provision for the Zionist State, or did it 
mean that there was a Zionist country which was expanding by armed force and 
refused to recognize the concept of international law? Or did it mean that the 
borders of the so-called "Land of Israel" were a secret known only to the Zionists? 

72. Mankind was at a loss to understand such statements by the Zionist leaders 
when they claimed that they desired a just and lasting peace and ~hen that claim 
then rapidly turned out to be merely a mockery, an insult to human intelligence, 
in disregard of the decisions of the international Organization. Israel's policy 
in that field was a clear violation of the fourth Geneva Convention, in 
particular articles 47 and 49 thereof, because Israel was still persisting in its 
policy of expansion and settlement, in disregard of all United Nations and 
Security Council resolutions, which it interpreted from day to day in accordance 
with its own interests. Serious thought should be given to reviewing the text 
of those resolutions and their interpretation, so as to leave no room for doubt 
as to their objectives. 

73. The Palestinians' land had gradually been subjected to expropriation, as 
could clearly be seen with regard to the Holy City of Jerusalem. Four per cent 
of Jerusalem had been owned by Jews in 1918, but after the 1967 war Jewish 
ownership had increased to 84 per cent. Over the same period, the Arab population 

I ... 



A/SPC/33/SR.33 
English 
Page 19 

(.12~_-__!l~nnouna, ~fc;>rocco) 

had been reduced from 75 per cent to 25 per cent. The same thing bad happened in 
other Palestinian towns and villaces, although the percentages bad varied. That 
was comraented on in paragraph 131 of document A/33/356, and the basic violation 
of human rights in Palestine and the occupied Arab territories clearly lay in the 
fact of occupation itself, which was the funda~ental evil. 

74. His delec;ation vras amazed at the tolerance shown by certain States towards 
Israel 7 s settlement policy and at their view that some settlements could be 
removed and others allowed to remain through a process of negotiation with Israel, 
within the framework of a just and lastine; solution to be achieved by coexistence 
between Israel and the Arab countries. The statements made by Israeli officials 
clearly contradicted that view. The settlement plans proved that there was a firm, 
long-term policy, as was borne out by the decision adopted by the Israeli 
Government on 26 February 1978, stating that there would be no change in its policy 
of continuing the establishment of Jewish settlements in the occupied Arab 
territories, with the transformation of all existing military bases on the 
vlest Bank into settlements at the appropriate time. 

75. A brief glance at the Jl!ap annexed to the report (A/33/356) showed that the 
existing settleKents had been built on the basis of strategic planning and could be 
converted into military strongholds in the event of any emergency, being located 
along three lines crossing the Hest Bank from north to south. The Israelis were 
trying to keep the Palestinian Arabs confined in the nine principal tovrns in the 
Bank and the Strip, and the same principle bad been applied in the Golan Heir:hts 
and Sinai. 

76. vJbat conceivable solution could there be to a situation based on a policy 
imposing a f~t _§.Cco_mplj:} Israel 1 s purpose in establishing those colonies 
was to change the geo[';raphical and demotr,raphic character of the occupied Arab 
territories, w·ith a view to consolidating Israeli colonialism and establishing 
the bases for the perpetuation of definitive occupation and achievement of the 
expansion required for increased immigration. That policy was clearly incompatible 
vrith the requirements of peace and a just and lasting solution. 

77. That criminal action had extended to all the holy places, such as Al-Masj id 
Al-Aqsa and the Chu:r·ch of the Ascension. All the Horoccan waqf lands and property 
1-rhich had been used to shelter and feed indie;ent pilgrims from Morocco had been 
expropriated, and Morocco therefore strongly condemned those Israeli practices 
which >vere aimed at altering the religious and humane character of Palestine, and 
it reserved its right to demand the restoration of the rights which Moroccans had 
enjoyed before the Zionist occupation. 

78. As for the Israeli practices affecting the ric;hts of the individual, the 
inhabitants of the occupied lands could expect no mercy from their colonizers. 
Colonialist coercion and tyranny kindled a patriotic flame and an urge to defend 
country and honour, as had been the case vrith all colonized peoples - in the not too 
distant past. Other colonized peoples had fou[';ht and had braved death, united 
in ranks and goals, and victory had been theirs. They had gained their freedom 
and independence. 

I . .. 



A/SPC/33/SR.33 
English 
Page 20 

(Mr. Bennouna, Morocco) 

79. Israel had claimed that its aim was to bring civilization, education and 
other benefits to individuals. The representative of Israel had stated that, 
through Israeli occupation, the Palestinian people in so-called 11Judaea" and 
11 Samaria'', i.e. , the Vlest Bank, and in Gaza, had won the right to administer their 
own affairs for the first time in history. Apparently that was ;.rhat peace meant 
to Israel. But to all the peoples of the world, peace could be achieved only 
through human dignity and independence. He hoped that efforts would be redoubled 
in the international Organization to free Israel from its colonialist, Zionist 
mentality and to win for the Palestinian people their right to freedom and 
independence. That was the greatest challenge facing the United Nations, and 
the greatest achievement whereby it could win the confidence of the peoples of 
the world. 

80. Mr. DIALLO (Niger) said that the situation in the occupied territories was 
the result of Israel's refusal to implement the relevant United Nations resolutions. 
Israel had for years been pursuing a policy of annexation and expropriation of 
those territories, with a view to altering their status and demographic composition, 
to the detriment of the Palestinian people. That policy involved the progressive 
establishment of Jewish settlements, for the purpose of driving all non-Jews out 
of the occupied territories. His delegation condemned those illegal acts which 
impeded the exercise of the inalienable ri~hts of the Palestinian people and 
showed the absence of any desire to achieve a just and lasting settlement of the 
Palestinian problem. The Palestinians could only exercise their rights when the 
military occupation came to an end. 

81. The daily deterioration in the situation of the civilian population of the 
occupied territories was a subject of concern to the international community. 
The ill-treatment of prisoners, in defiance of the 1911.9 Geneva Convention, uas 
described in the Special Committec:'s report (A/33/356, paras. 106, 115, 118 and 120). 
The numerous cases of expropriation and displacement of the civilian population, 
and the exploitation of the natural resources of the occupied territories, showed 
Israel 1 s arrogant attitude and persistent refusal to implement the relevant United 
Nations resolutions. Such practices could not fail to strengthen resistance by 
the civilian population and hamper negotiations for peace in the ~1iddle East. 
Since that peace depended upon the recognition of the inalienable rights of the 
Palestinian people, his delegation called upon all Member States to work for the 
protection of the fundamental human rights of the population of the occupied 
territories. The Special Cormnittee 1 s recommendation that a suitable mechanism 
should be established to safeguard the human rights of the civilian population 
should be supported by all Member States. His delegation also welcomed the ICRC 
initiative concerning the establishment of fact-finding committees. 

82. Hr. AYUBZAI (Afghanistan) said that his delegation would have liked the 
report of the Special Committee, for ,,rhich he expressed appreciation, also to 
cover the situation in the Golan Heights. The Israeli authorities tried to 
justify by the so-called homeland doctrine their illegal policy of establishing 
settlements in Arab lands, in defiance of the provisions of the Charter, of 
numerous United Nations resolutions and of established principles of international 
law, in particular the cardinal principle of the inadmissibility of territorial 

I . .. 



A/SPC/33/SR.33 
English 
Page 21 

(~r. Ayubzai, Af~hanistan) 

acquisition by force. Israeli activities in those territories were designed to 
change their legal status, geographical character and demographic structure. The 
Israelis were also plundering their natural resources. The assertions that the 
Arabs enjoyed good living conditions under alien domination had no bearing on the 
matter, since independence was the paramount consideration. The suppression of 
the elementary human rights of the Palestinian people was inherent in the very 
fact of occupation. 

83. In condemning the expansionist policies of Israel, the international community 
was not motivated by unworthy sentiments of revenge and unreasonable hostility, as 
the Israeli representative claimed, but was supporting a just struggle which 
involved the fate of an entire nation. History had shown that the determination 
of a people to defend their homeland could not be suppressed, no matter what 
hardships they suffered. The heroic people of Palestine would be no exception. 

84. The struggle of the Arab people against the Israeli aggression could not be 
separated from the struggle of all other peoples against colonialism, 
neo-colonialism, imperialism~ racism and apartheid_. The international community 
must face up to its responsibility and put an end to the Israeli occupation of 
Arab territories and not allow the aggressor to enjoy the fruit of his aggression. 
It was 1vell known that through its settlement policy, Israel wanted to confront 
the international community with yet another fait accompli. 

85. The question under discussion was part and parcel of the Middle East problem. 
There could be no acceptable solution to the problem of the human rights of the 
population of the occupied Arab territories without a comprehensive, just and 
lasting solution of the Middle East problem. Such a solution required the 
withdravral of Israel from all territories occupied in 1967 and the recognition of 
the inalienable rights of the Palestinian people - not only the right to an 
independent State in Palestine but also the right of those inhumanly uprooted 
from their ancestral homeland to return home. 

86. Mr. ~IDSSA (Somalia) said that in addition to committing acts aimed at changing 
the legal status and geographical and demographical nature of the occupied 
territories, Israel was obstinately engaged in exploiting the resources of those 
territories and interfering in the holy places. The gradual but steady desecration 
and destruction of the Islamic holy places were clearly described in the 
communication of the Government of Jordan to the United Nations (A/33/60) concerning 
demolition and water-installation projects adjacent to the Western Wall of the 
Al-Harem-al-Shareef Holy Sanctuary in Jerusalem and in another communication from 
the same Government (A/33/88) concerning the projected demolition of an Islamic 
hospice and properties of the Magharbah 1-laqf charitable foundations near the sacred 
Aqsa Mosque and expulsion of their residents. The Government of Morocco had also 
addressed similar communications to the United Nations. Those acts of the Israeli 
authorities would change the historic, religious and demographic landscape of 
occupied Jerusalem, in flagrant violation of the resolutions of the General 
Assembly, the Security Council and UNESCO, and in violation of international 
conventions. In 1976, the Security Council had issued a consensus statement 



A/SPC/33/SR.33 
English 
Page 22 

(Mr. Mussn., Somalia) 

reaffirming the applicability of the fourth Geneva Convention to the occupied Arab 
territories and recognizing that any act to profane the holy places, religious 
buildings and sites, or any connivance at any such acts, might seriously endanger 
international peace and security. 

87. The statements of the so~called Israeli leaders had confirmed Israel's 
intention to establish new settlements and strengthen those already established. 
The long list of settlements mentioned in the statement by the representative of 
Jordan and the countless settlements indicated on the map annexed to the Special 
Cormnittee's report showed the magnitude of Israeli infiltration and colonialism. 
Israel's plans for future settlements were equally horrifying. The Chairman of 
Israel's so-called Ministerial Committee on Settlements had stated early in 1978 
that his Committee intended to spend one third of the settlement budget on new 
sites in Judaea and Samaria, and Israel's Prime Hinister had said, on 
31 October 1978, that the Jewish people 1 s right to settle in all parts of the 
land of Israel was inalienable. The Gush-E~unim movement, which claimed, on 
religious grounds, the right to settle anywhere in Palestine, had published a 
master plan to increase the number of Jewish settlers on the \lest Bank to 10~000 
over the next three years, and the Horld Zionist Organization was actively engaged 
in the annexation of the occupied Arab territories. The latter had stated that, 
although the final decision must continue to be the responsibility of the Israeli 
Government, its partners, whose representatives sat jointly with the Government 
settlement officials in a special committee, must also be consulted. 

88. The ill-·treatment of civilian detainees described in the report must be 
intended primarily to demoralize the civilian population by confronting it 1-Tith 
the constant reality of military subjugation. In the light of the irrefutable 
evidence provided in the report and in the statements by the representative of 
Jordan, the PLO and Kuwait, the Special Political Cormnittee would serve the 
conscience of the international community if it recommended stringent measures to 
put an end to the occupation by Israel of the Arab territories and to Israel's 
denial of the inalienable rights of the Palestinians. 

89. ~Ir. MOGHTADERI (Iran) pointed out that, in addition to the essential and 
inalienable human rights referred to in Security Council resolution 237 (1967), 
specific conventions referred to the treatment of civilian persons in time of war. 
For example, article 49 of the fourth Geneva Convention protected the rights of 
people of occupied territories. The intention 1-ras to preserve the demographic 
composition of the population of occupied territories and thus protect the most 
basic of human rights, namely the right to retain a social, cultural and political 
identity. Although Israel, on joining the United l'Tations, had become a signa.tory to 
that Convention, the report of the Special CoEiili ttee mentioned nUT'lerous instances of 
non-compliance in practice by that country. 'l'he published statements of Israeli 
lea.ders announcing their intention to extend and intensify settlement activity 
throughout the occupied territories, in direct contradiction of the guarantees of 
the Geneva Convention, were a matter of particular concern. On the Hest Bank, 
from which 200,000 Palestinians had been forced to emigrate, the plan of the 
Gush-Emunim movement mentioned the settlement of 750 0 000 Jews by the turn of the 
century (A/33/356, para. 49). The implication of sustained settlement activity 
through the year 2000 was particularly detrimental to hopes for a cessation of 

I . .. 



A/SPC/33/SR.33 
Encslish 
Page 23 

(Mr. Moghtaderi, Iran) 

the illegal changes in the demographic composition of the Palestinian population. 
The major infusion of Israeli civilians also diverted the use of the natural 
resources of the area from the indigenous people. Such a diversion had occurred 
on the West Bank, where half of the water supply was used by the new settlements. 

90. Israel's continued refusal to allow the Special Committee access to the 
occupied territories prevented it from performing its legitimate functions. The 
pattern of a disrupted society clearly emerged from the evidence relating to the 
day~to-day situation of the civilians in the occupied territories. As the Special 
Committee had said, military occupation was, in itself, a violation of the human 
rights of the civilian population. The tempo of the incidents mentioned in the 
report of the Special Committee could not be expected to diminiEh since, as a 
civilian population witnessed the systematic usurpation of its land and natural 
resources, resistance to the usurping forces was predictable. The alleged 
mistreatment of detained and incarcerated civilians was also the direct result 
of the occupation and, like other problems investigated by the Special Committee, 
could only end •rith Israel's withdrawal from the occupied territories. As was 
stated in paragraph 127 of the report, the regrettable conclusion was that there 
had been no significant changes in the human rights situation of the civilian 
population. 

91. lYir. SURYOKUSUMO (Indonesia) said that Israel's continued implementation of 
its policy of settlement and annexation had caused large-scale human suffering and 
unrest over the past several years. Additional measures taken by the occupying 
forces had included the demolition of houses as a penalty imposed on people who 
had later been found innocent of any crime. Israel had continued, as a matter of 
policy, to violate the basic norms of international law and international 
conventions, including the Geneva Convention on the protection of civilian persons 
in time of war. The very fact of military occupation had prevented the free 
pursuit of an independent life and, in addition, the Israeli authorities had used 
educational and cultural institutions as direct instruments of a policy designed 
to undermine the foundations of Arab culture. 

92. Indonesia was particularly concerned at the serious and accelerating 
encroachments by the occupation authorities on historic, religious and cultural 
areas and, in particular, on the inviolability of the status of occupied Arab 
Jerusalem. ill~ESCO had recently cut off funds to Israel on the grounds that it 
had damaged Arab monuments in Jerusalem with archaeological and other excavations. 
It was clear from the report of the Special Committee that the design of the 
Government of Israel was to perpetuate the occupation of the territories and to 
intensify its efforts to achieve annexation. Such policies were not only 
reprehensible in themselves~ they also represented an impediment to negotiations 
for a just solution to the problem of the ~1iddle East. In a number of resolutions, 
the General Assembly had recognized that such a settlement could only be achieved 
through Israel's withdrawal from all occupied territories and through recognition 
of the fundamental rights of the Palestinian people. The continued illegal 
measures undertaken by Israel constituted a serious contravention of the principles 
of the Charter, as well as a flagrant defiance of the will of the international 
community. 

I ... 



A/SPC/33/SR.33 
En~lish 
Page 24 

(Mr. Suryokusumo, Indonesia) 

93. The Indonesian delegation regretted that the Government of Israel had not 
yet permitted members of the Special Committee to visit the territories and 
considered that in accordance with repeated proposals by the Special Committee, 
Israel should at least agree to nominate a neutral State or internationo.l 
organization to join in an arrangement for the representation of the people of the 
occupied territories in an act of self-determination. It was clear that the 
problem of the occupied territories could only be solved -vli thin the context of a 
br.,ad political solution of the whole Middle East problem. Until the -vrider 
problem ,.ras solved~ hovrever, the General Assembly had the duty to put a stop to 
the continued violations of the human rights of the population of the occupied 
territories. 

94. Mr. HASSAN (Sudan) said that, during the past 10 years, the -vrorld had 
witnessed an escalation of Israeli settlement in the occupied lands, accompanied 
by the expulsion of the indigenous population and the infliction of torture on 
the remaining Palestinians as a reprisal for their heroic resistance to the yoke 
of zionism. The report of the Special Committee reflected the cowardice of the 
Israeli authorities, 1vho had refused not only to restore the rights of the 
Palestinian people as a first step towards a just and lasting peace in the re~ion 
but also to permit the establishment of a Palestinian State under the authority 
of the PLO. He accordingly associated himself with the delegation of the Syrian 
Arab Republic which had challenged Israel to revise the membership of the Special 
Committee and to permit it to carry out its survey and pass judgement on Israeli 
practices. The suppression of the human rights of the Palestinian population of 
the occupied territories was only one example of Israeli intransigence in the face 
of United nations resolutions. The Israeli practices were clearly designed to 
change the sociological, demographic~ cultural and economic structures of the Arab 
territories, and were part and parcel of Israeli aggression and repression of its 
neighbours, whose territories had been illegally occupied by force, 
notwithstanding the censure of the international community. Israel's desperate 
efforts to justify its violations of human rights were proof of Israeli duplicity. 
Previously the representative of Israel had said that the settlements in the 
Hest Bank and Gaza were of a defensive nature and dictated by Israel's military 
requirements. It was clear, however, that Israel was preparing international 
op1n1on for the next stage, which would involve the annexation of the territories. 
In that connexion~ Israeli courts were actually practising the same policy 
towards the Palestinian people as the Gestapo had followed in regard to zionism. 
In conclusion, he wished to pay tribute to the ¥rork not only of the Special 
Committee but also of the International Red Cross; both had carried out their 
tasks under conditions of extreme difficulty. His delegation supported the three 
L'rsft resolutions which had been submitted on the item and which contained further 
conc::C!~i'T,a-cions of Israeli practices • The struggle of the Palestinian people would 
co;:-,_tinue, -:Jotwithstanding torture and oppression, until the Israeli authorities 
haci made !1 :~ositive response to their aspirations for dignity and the recovery of 
their ri:.;hts. 

95. ':r. JL':JET~' ·:r (7Tigeria) said that the Israeli settlements in the Arab 
territo-ri--;~s~i·>;e•:_ in the 1967 war lay at the very root of the continuing crisis 

I ... 



A/SPC/33/SR.33 
Englisl1 
Pac:e 25 

(fi~ Ade_;y~_mi ,_l:I...l:.n::eria) 

in the Hiddle East. The first step towards a realistic solution of the problem 
must be the termination of the practices listed in the Special Committee's report. 
Thereafter, all Palestinians, both inside and outside the occupied territories, 
must be guaranteee unfettered freedom to return to their homes and to exercise 
their inalienable rights to self~-determination and independence in a -politically 
defined homeland of their own. Israel must therefore ccLply with the relevant 
resolutions of the United Hations and withdraw unconditionally from all areas 
occupied in the iiake of the 1967 "'\var. 

96. Jewish settlements had been established in every part of the territories which 
Israel had continued to occupy since 1967 and each one of them represented" in the 
view of his dele8ation, an element in a conscious and explicit nolicy of 
colonization. Israeli Government funds had ahrays been available for the 
establishment of new settlements on Arab lands and for the drive to brine in new 
immigrants to man them, notwithstanding pruning of the social service budgets on a 
scale which had already led to real hardship and internal unrest. Such a pattern 
of determined colonization was in clear conflict 1-rith Israel's declared aim of 
achieving a peace settlement with its neighbours~ and it inevitably called into 
question the sincerity of the Israeli Government in the current negotiations for 
peace. That Government had continued to set aside astronomical sums, estimated 
by the Special Committee at 8600 million, for the promotion of its expansionist 
ambitions~ additional sums had been made available from the budgets of the Housing 
Hinistry and the Ministry of Agriculture. Furthermore, Israel's hard-line 
Minister for Agriculture had announced, in October 1978, that the Government uould 
start setting up new settlements in the Jordan Valley, once the three-month period 
following the signature of the Camp David accords had passed, and that the Jordan 
Valley settlements would not be evacuated. On 9 October 1978, during the general 
debate at the current session of the General Assembly, the Foreign IJinister of 
Israel had stated that the Israeli settlements in Judaea, Samaria aud Gaza were 
there as of right, and that it vras inconceivable that Jews should iJe prohibited 
from settling and living in Judaea and Samaria which were the heart of the Jewish 
homeland. In a press interview on 21 October, Mr. Begin, the Prirne Hinister of 
Israel, had stated that the Jewish people's right to settle in all parts of the 
land of Israel was inalienable, and that that right w-ould continue to be 
implemented in the future. 

97. 'I'he settlements had involved the systematic evictio:1 ')f Arab fa:P1ilies frorn 
their lands, so that they had been cut off from their only source of livelihood. 
On each occasion, eviction had been justified under the all~·embracing p!'ete:xt of 
shoring up Israel's so--called security, but i--Qlllec"liately thereafter tLe 
sequestrated property had been turned over to neu Jevish immi,zrai1ts. !i'~rthcrmore, 

Arab religious sites had recently become tar;ets of Israeli demolition measures. 
In the occupied territories the vast range of security offences of wl>i.c~1 a civilian 
might find himself guilty reflected the arbitrary nature of Israeli military 
orders, 1-rhich were frequently vague and lent the;:1sel ves to a broa0_ interpretation. 
~1e Arab civilian inhabitant of the occupied territories could therefore becorne 
liable to presecution before a military tribunal for such innocuous offences as 
membership in an illetsal organization. Such military tribunals he.d routinely 
handed down stiff penalties for minor offences, includin~ lons ~ri~on terms, in 
complete disregard of articles 33 and 67 of the fom·th Geneva conV·2ntion. 

/ ... 



A/SPC/33/SR.33 
Ene;lish 
Page 26 

(Mr. Adeyemi, Nigeria) 

Civilians were still subject to arbitrary measures, including reprisals against 
their property, even when they were only suspects. It was therefore not 
surprising that such a style of government had provoked a pattern of resistance 
on the part of the civilian population, which seemed bent on asserting its right 
to self-determination. Such resistance had produced an ever-increasing prison 
population against a gloomy background of escalating repression by the occupation 
authorities, involving the use of torture, both during the interrogation of 
suspects and after their incarceration. The vicious circle of resistance and 
reprisals could only be broken by unconditional removal of the military occupying 
Power. 

98. In continuing to establish settlements, the Israeli Government was in clear 
breach of specific international agreements. The policy of colonization itself 
constituted a defiance of United Nations resolutions and of the spirit of the 
Charter. Furthermore, article 49 of the fourth Geneva Convention, of which Israel 
was a signatory, stipulated that an occupying Power should not transfer parts of 
its own civilian population to occupied territories. Protests had been lodged 
against the Israeli Government by liberal Israeli academics and journalists, 
who had rightly argued that the colonization process not only represented a 
violation of the human rights of the Palestinians and an obstacle to peace in the 
entire region, but was also visibly undermining the theory of Zionist idealism. 

99. The colonization of the Arab territories was morally wrone; and was doing as 
much violence to the fabric of Israeli society as it was to the legitimate rights 
and aspirations of the people on whom Israel was seeking to impose its will. 
Juridically, the colonization process was illegal, and had involved Israel in a 
constant battle of wills with the international community from which Israel had 
become increasingly alienated. Politically, the establishment of more settlements 
or the expansion of existing ones was futile and self-defeating, and merely 
perpetuated the very hostility which it should be Israel's first objective to 
disarm. 

100. In the face of such intransigent defiance of its collective will by the State 
of Israel, the United Nations must demand immediate compliance with its 
resolutions. Israel must abandon its plan to establish new settlements or to 
11thicken 11 old ones. The military administration must stop its provocative policy 
of evacuating Arab inhabitants from the occupied territories; it must desist from 
further destruction of Arab houses and terminate its current waves of mass 
arrests and torture of Arab civilians. It must respect the sanctity of the 
archaeological, religious and cultural sites belonging to the non-Jewish 
population. Those steps shculd be a prelude to the complete and unconditional 
withdrawal of the Israeli occupation forces so that dispossessed Palestinians 
could return in safety and dignity to exercise their inalienable rights to self
determination and independence in accordance with General Assembly resolution 
194 (III). In conclusion, his delegation would like to express its appreciation 
to the members of the Special Committee for their comprehensive report (A/33/356), 
which had been produced notwithstanding obstruction by the Israeli occupation 
authorities. 

/ ... 



A/SPC/33/SR.33 
English 
PaGe 27 

101. Mr. HEGALOKONONOS (Greece) said that the report of the Special Committee 
clearly gave cause for concern, as there had been no improvement in the situation 
regarding the human rights of the civilian Arab population in the occupied 
territories during the past year. Furthermore, the occupying authorities had 
continued to create further settlements in violation of international law. Strict 
respect for the human rights of the population of the occupied territories was not 
only an obligation dictated by international law but was also an element which 
could help to create the appropriate climate for a peaceful solution of the -vrhole 
problem. His Government strongly opposed all military occupation or acquisition 
of territory by force, and all attampts to annex such territory. It could not 
endorse the reliterate alteration of the demographic composition of territories 
or the establishment, anywhere in the world, of settlements in occupied 
territories and the deportation of the indigenous population. The occupying Power 
should make a serious effort to ensure that the human rights of the population 
under its temporary authority were scrupulously respected and to accept scrutiny 
of that effort by the Special Committee. Human rights were indivisible, and all 
peoples of the world, including the Arab Palestinian people, must be permitted to 
enjoy them fully. 

102. I·Ir. ERELL (Israel) , exerc1s1ng his right of reply, said that the 
representative of India had referred to the human rights aspect of the situation 
in Judaea, Samaria and Gaza, and to the refusal of the Government of Israel to 
admit a political committee of inquiry into those territories. But the 
Government of Israel did not consider that it had anything to disprove. The 
allegations themselves must first be proved. The question of a committee of 
investigation had recently arisen in the Indian Parliament in connexion with a 
person of lofty status; yet the Indian Prime Minister had refused to allow a 
political committee to investigate the case, and had insisted that the courts 
should handle any allegations against the person. That was also the position of 
the Israeli Government: allegations should be handled by the courts, and that 
was, in fact, what was done in Israel. 

103. The representative of Bulgaria had mentioned a United States news report 
concerning a Supreme Court hearing in Israel of the case of two residents of 
Judaea and Samaria whose land had been taken by the army for security purposes. 
His own delegation had tried to emphasize the point that the legal processes open 
to citi?:ens of Israel >-rere also open to the residents of Judaea, Samaria and 
Gaza, and that cases brought by them would be heard within 24 hours. The courts 
often handed down decisions against the Government and the military authorities. 
That there had been an incident outside the courtroom, involving police 
intervention, might seem strange in some States, but not in a democracy where 
the actions of the Government could be challenged through the courts. 

104. The representative of Egypt had referred to the Geneva Convention. However, 
the Geneva Convention allowed the so-called occupation authorities considerable 

I ... 



A/SPC/33/SR.33 
English 
Page 28 
(Mr. Erell, Israel) 

scope for action in connexion with security needs. Those who took the time to 
read the whole Convention would see that the Israeli Government was, in practice, 
applying the prov~s~ons of the Convention, and was in fact going beyond them in 
its dealiugs with the local civilian population. 

105. Hith regard to the misrepresentations by the representative of Kuwait, it 
should be pointed out that there had been Jewish settlers in Judaea, Samaria and 
Gaza since the days of the British mandate. They had been removed by force from 
Judaea and Samaria by Jordan, while Egypt had taken the Gaza Strip. The whole area 
had, in fact, come under the British mandate. 

106. There was no need to approach the occupied territories as if they were some 
new America which had just been discovered. When it had adopted resolution 
242 (1967), the Security Council had refused to require a total withdrawal of Israeli 
troops. It had deliberately refrained from wording the resolution in such a 
way as to call for a complete withdrawal from Sinai, the Golan Heights, Judaea, 
Samaria and Gaza. It had recognized that the future of those areas was E matter 
for negotiation. In the armistice agreement of 1949 between Israel and the 
neighbouring countries, the lines dividing the Gaza Strip from Israel and from 
Judaea and Samaria had merely been armistice dividing lines, and were referred to 
in the agreement as "military lines';. They were devoid of political significance, 
and had been drawn without prejudice to the boundaries to be established in an 
eventual peace settlement. The whole territorial question had therefore been left 
open for negotiation, both by the armistice agreement and by resolution 242 (1967). 

107. As he had already explained, Judaea, Samaria and the Gaza Strip posed a 
security problem of the highest importance. That was clear from the map appended 
to the report of the Special Committee. In dealing with the territorial question, 
Israel had tried to reach an agreement. Jordan, however, had refused to enter into 
negotiations, and had also refused to discuss any boundaries except the armistice 
lines. It had been impossible to proceed by any means other than self-government 
in those areas, and their final status had been left for decision at a later date. 
Unfortunately, some of Israel's other neighbours regarded the dispute •rith Israel 
in the manner of a child playing with toy blocks; if they did not like the result, 
they wanted to destroy the structure and start again. However, the issue was not 
one of toy blocks, but of life and death. Realities had been created which made it 
impossible to start from scratch. The statement of the representative of Kuwait 
had made clear what his own delegation had been trying to explain: that the whole 
issue was about the destruction of Israel. In speaking of a pluralist Palestine 
and of an Arab majority in the country, that representative had denied the right 
of self-determination to the Jews. It should also be pointed out that Judaea 
and Samaria were government land, not Arab land, and could be sold neither to 
Arabs nor to Jews. 

108. Mr. KUBBA (Iraq), speaking on a point of order, asked whether the 
representative of Israel was entitled to exercise his right of reply in lieu of 
making a statement. 

109. The CHAifu~ said that the delegation of Israel could speak in exercise of its 
right of reply either at the beginning or at the end of its statement. 

I ... 



A/SPC/33/SR.33 
English 
Pa8e 29 

llC. Mr. RAJI.1ATI (Israel)) speaking in the general debate~ said that the majority 
of the statements made, and the resolutions introduced, had failed to depart 
from the stale and barren patterns of previous years. He wished that they had 
attempted to take into account the realities in the area and the new developments 
which were taking place, and to encourage the positive trends towar~s 
reconciliation and peace. 

111. The main trend had been to use the debate as a vehicle for waging Arab 
political warfare against Israel. The rights of Arabs had been used as a weapon 
to deny the rights of Jews. It had been said that Arab human rights could be 
ensured only if not a single Jew were allowed to live in their midst, and only if 
Israel withdrew to indefensible borders. The impassioned appeal to all nations 
to join in the eradication of Zionism showed that the debate was only a preparatory 
stage for a further Arab attempt at Israel 1 s destruction. A famous Arab leader 
had once stated that Israel's existence was an aggression. Members of the Committee 
were being invited to join the Arabs in a second holocaust. The representative of 
Jordan had noted the reluctance of representatives of democratic nations to take 
part in the debate, and thus make themselves active accomplices in furthering 
the criminal aim of destroying a Member of the United Nations. Those who had 
compiled the report of the Special Committee had been more careful than the Arabs; 
they had avoided making easily refutable allegations, and had only sought to 
establish some connexion between the humanitarian mandate of the Committee and 
the political declarations they wished to make. 

112. For decades, Arabs had been ready to use any weapon to prevent the Jewish 
State from being created. They now sought its destruction, and many were unable 
to reconcile themselves to the fact that Israel was a permanent fixture in the 
Hiddle East. That attitude had led to great suffering in the Middle East and in 
Palestine~ it had caused the slaughters of 1920, 1921 and 1929. In the period 
1936-1939, Prabs had killed five tirn.es as J1'1_any Arabs - 3,200 in all - as Jews 
and British combined. The same attitude had led to the Arab rejection of United 
Nations resolution 181/II of 1947, to the Arab invasion of Palestine in 1948, to 
infiltration and terrorism after the signature of the armistice agreements~ and 
to the wars of 1956, 1967 and 1973. The same attitude had also led to the 
establishment of the so-called PLO in the mid-l960s, and to the campaign in the 
United Nations to vilify Israel and glorify the terrorist activities of the PLO. 

113. Delegations should, however, consider the very important changes which had 
taken place in the region during the past year. One hopeful aspect was the 
enthusiasm of the ordinary people for a peace policy. Yet even when peace treaties 
were signed with one or more Arab States, the forces in the Arab world which wanted 
to destroy Israel would still be there. Syria did not disguise its dream of 
creating a greater Syria. It had spent millions on a project to divert the waters 
of the Hasbani and the Bannias, two of the sources of the River Jordan, which would 
not have added one drop of water for Syria's use, but would have made war inevitable. 
The Syrians had attacked peaceful villages, and such outrages could be renewed at 
any moment. Judaea and Samaria could not be permitted to become bases for terrorism 
once more: from those areas, the most vital centres of Israel's population and 
economy would be open to artillery fire, and terrorists would be able to set out 
after dusk and attack any Israeli target, returning by dawn. Israel could not be 
expected again to expose its people to the possibility of facing, as in 1967, 
armies in Judaea~ Samaria and Gaza which had the declared intention of annihilating 
them. 

I . .. 



A/SPC/33/SR.33 
English 
Page 30 

(Mr. Ramati, Israel) 

114. Delegations should reflect carefully before voting on the draft resolutions. 
Arab armies were no longer what they 11ad once been. According to the International 
Institute of Stratee;ic Studies in London, Arab States had ordered anr..s 1.rorth tens 
of billions of dollars for delivery by 1930. On Israel's eastern front alone, 
the Arab armies already hacl manpmrer ancl tanks equal to those of one of the 
world's two major military alliances~ ancl possessed twice as Jl'Uch :1rtillery, 
It was impossible for llis small country to feel secure if such forces were 
concentrated in its capital city of Jerusale~, within artillery ran~e of Tel Aviv. 

115. Israel -vras doing all it could to promote peaceful coexistence and to give 
tangible expression to the benefits of mutual co-operation between Jew and Arab. 
ArnonE the Arabs in Judaea, Smnaria and Gaza, blind hatred had been replaced by 
much mutually beneficial co"·operation. The frmne1mrk agreement of Camp David 
envisaged civilian adrainistration in Juda.ea; Samaria and Gaza. Israel wished to 
withdraw its own military Government and civil administration from those areas. 
Hhile it was difficult to preserve national security for Israel in those areas, 
the plan presented an exciting challenge to both Israel ancl its Arab neighbours. 
His delegation believed that the example of the benefits of peace which Israel's 
treaty with Egypt 1rould demonstrate, as well as the evolvement of new· forms of 
friendly coexistence in Judaea, Samaria and Gaza, would eventually influence those 
forces in the Arab -vrorld lvhich -vrere as yet unreconciled to Israel 9 s renewed 
independence in their midst. Delegations should not support resolutions -vrhich 
vTOuld make a difficult road to peace even more hazardous. 

116. The draft resolution contained in documents A/SPC/33/1.15, 1.16 and 1.17, 
contained unfounded assertions with regard to legal questions. In the fourth 
preambular paragraph of draft resolution A/SPC/33/1.15, the Assembly vould note 
that Israel &1d the Arab States whose territories had been occupied by Israel since 
June 1967 -vrere parties to the fourth Geneva Convention. The ~Vhole resolution was 
therefore based on the false premise that Judaea, Samaria and Gaza were sovereign 
Arab territories, That assumption was incorrect according to international la-vr. 
Each of the 22 Arab States had its o>m Government and its o-vm sovereignty; but 
Judaea, Samaria and Gaza clid not belong to any one of those territories. the 
fourth Geneva Convention did not, therefore, apply to Judaea, Samaria or Gaza. 
The legal standing of Israel in those territories was that of a State lawfully 
in control of territory to which no other State could shOi.r better title. Israel 
could not be considered an 1·occupying force:: within the meaning of the Convention 
in any part of the former ~andated territory of Palestine. 

117. However, Israel's policy in the administered territories had been to observe 
all humanitarian provisions of international conventions. 'Ihose did not include 
any restriction on the freedom of persons to take up residence in such areas of 
their own free -vrill, Article 49 of the fourth Geneva Convention vras intended to 
protect the local population from mass deportation, such as had occurred uncler 
the Nazis in the Second Horld \-Jar. Israel had taken great care to ensure that no 
Arab resident in the area should be displaced by any new Jewish villace or township, 
and article 49 of the Convention did not therefore, apply. Those who had read the 
Convention >vould find that it did not sanction recourse to violence or sabotae;e, 
obstruction of the administration" or acts against the security of the State and 
its forces. The administering Power had both the right and the duty to punish those 
r:;uilty of such acts, in accordance "lvith the law. 

I ... 



A/SPC/33/SR.33 
English 
Page 31 

(Mr. Ramati, Israel) 

118. Israel had in fact gone beyond the requirements of the Convention by not 
applying capital punishment, by allowing the population access to Israeli 
courts, by allowing free movement out of the territories, by assisting the 
inhabitants of the area in the expansion of their foreign trade, and by twice 
holding free and democratic elections for municipal and local councils. The 
settlements in the areas had been described by Foreign Minister Dayan as a 
deterrent to war. The impression had been given that Jews had come to live in 
Judaea, Samaria and Gaza for the first time in 1967. Yet Jews had owned land in 
those areas and in the old city of Jerusalem for centuries. They had constituted 
the majority of the population in the three areas until the Arab conquest of the 
seventh century. There had been Jewish settlements in recent generations in the 
cities of Hebron, Gaza, Jericho, and Shechem, and in Jerusalem itself Jews had 
outnumbered their Christian and Moslem neighbours for at least the past 150 years. 
In the 1920s and 1930s, the smaller urban Jewish communities in predominantly 
Arab cities had been unable to survive attacks by their Arab neighbours, and had 
therefore been dispersed. vlould anyone in the Committee wish to assert 
that it was illegal for a Jew to settle on land which he owned, merely because 
Arabs lived in the area? Such Jewish villages existed on Jewish-owned land in 
the Hebron hills, in the Gaza Strip, in the Jordan valley and by the Dead Sea. 
The objections to Jewish settlement were either racist in nature or were 
politically motivated, in cases where Governments preferred to prejudge the 
status of the areas rather than allow the matter to be settled by negotiation 
in accordance with Security Council resolutions 242 (1967) and 338 (1973). 

119. His Government indignantly rejected the false and totally unfounded 
accusations contained in operative paragraph l+ of draft resolution A/SPC/33/L.l7. 
Operative paragraph 5 (g) was particularly slanderous. The International Red Cross, 
which had the opportunity of speaking freely with any detainee, had not 
substantiated those crude allegations. Operative paragraphs 5 (c), 5 (f), 5 (h), 
5 (i) and 5 (j) were utterly ridiculous. The only purpose of operative paragraph 10 
was to continue to flood the United Nations with reports delioerately hostilP 
to Israel. Delegates should register their distaste for the exploitation of the 
United Nations for the purpose of psychological warfare against Israel. 

120. One of the draft resolutions referred again to the town of Quneitra. For 
some years, that town had been under Syrian civilian administration, and was not 
even mentioned in the report of the Special Committee. 

121. Delegates able to cast a free vote should vote in the way they believed would 
best serve the ideals of the Charter and the aims of the United Nations. Given 
the present opportunity to achieve peace in the region, they should support progress 
towards reconciliation, and should oppose draft resolutions calculated to inflame 
the situation and to perpetuate the conflict. They should encourage the Arab 
neighbours of Israel to join in the peace process, and should themselves vote for 
peace by voting against the misguided resolutions. 

122. The CHAIRMAN said that the representatives of India, Egypt, Kuwait, Jordan and 
the observer for the PLO wished to exercise the right of reply. Those replies would 

I ... 



A/SPC/33/SR.33 
En0lish 
Page 32 

(The Chairpl_§ln) 

be hec.rd at the meetine; to be held the followine; day. Voting on the draft 
j~esolutions would talce place on 28 Novemter. Hali. Nirreria and Yugosl'ivia had 
joined the sponsors of draft resolution A/SPC/33/1.15; He,li, Tur:f_ey and 

Yu(Soslavia had joined the sponsors of draft resolution A/SPC/33/1.16; and 1>1ali 
had joined the sponsors of draft resolution A/SPC/33/1.17. 

The meetine; rose at 3. 50 p.m. 


